3

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph W. Hudgens, Special Referee

Common Pleas Case No.: 2012-CP-36-103
Appellate Case No. 2013-002181

RECEIVED
SEP 29 2014
SC Court of Appeals

EverBank,.....Respondent,

v.

Lenora Scurry, Patrick Scurry, The South Carolina
Department of Revenue, Defendants,

Of Whom Lenora Scurry and Patrick Scurry are the.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Andrew S. Radeker
Harrison & Radeker, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Was the special referee's denial of Appellants' motion under Rule 60(b), SCRCP, the result of a flawed analysis that produced a ruling that abused the special referee's discretion?**

- II. Did the special referee ignore that, on the undisputed facts of the case, the judgment violated Rule 54(c), SCRCP, and was accordingly void?**

- III. Did the special referee ignore that, on the undisputed facts of the case, Appellants have a meritorious defense?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent (hereinafter “EverBank”) commenced this mortgage foreclosure action by both filing and serving upon Appellants (hereinafter “the Scurrys”) a summons and complaint on the same day, February, 27, 2012. (R. pp. 19-29, 165-66, 177-78.) The next day, February 28, 2012 – after the commencement of the action – the mortgage subject of the action was assigned to EverBank. (R. p. 122.)

The action sought foreclosure, pursuant to alleged default in payments on a note given to Primary Capital Advisors LC, of a mortgage given to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (hereinafter “MERS”) as nominee for Primary Capital Advisors LC, by virtue of an alleged assignment of the mortgage to EverBank. (R. pp. 24, 25, 26.) The complaint sought for the court to determine “[t]he amount due upon the said Note and Mortgage[,]” including “attorney’s fees and costs of this action.” (R. p. 26.)

The Scurrys did not answer the complaint within 30 days of its service upon them, and an affidavit of default was filed on March 30, 2012. (R. p. 200.) The same day, the case was referred to a special referee. (R. p. 16.)

The Scurrys filed for bankruptcy protection, which stayed the foreclosure action. (R. p. 2.) In the course of the bankruptcy, EverBank filed a proof of claim with regard to the mortgage debt subject of this case, stating that \$835.00 were the attorney’s fees associated with the foreclosure action. (R. p. 56.) The same law firm that represented EverBank in the foreclosure action filed the proof of claim in bankruptcy court. (R. p. 55.)

After the conclusion of the bankruptcy, a default foreclosure hearing was held on March 8, 2013. (R. p. 2.) The Scurrys did not appear at the hearing. (R. p. 2.)

At the foreclosure hearing, EverBank's attorney presented a pre-written "transcript of testimony" that noted the assignment of the mortgage after the commencement of the action and requested an award of "attorney's fees in the amount of \$5,200.00 based on examination of title, preparation of pleadings, correspondence, preparation for foreclosure hearing and attendance at hearing." (R. pp. 110, 111.) Attached to the transcript of testimony was a copy of the note, the mortgage, and the mortgage assignment. (R. pp. 113-22.) The note provides that if the payee of the note has accelerated the debt, it "may require Borrower to pay costs and expenses including reasonable and customary attorneys' fees for enforcing this Note to the extent not prohibited by applicable law." (R. p. 114.)

The special referee entered an order and judgment of foreclosure and sale on March 11, 2013, which stated the February 28, 2012, date of the mortgage assignment and awarded EverBank \$5,200.00 as an "[a]ttorney fee[.]" (R. pp. 9, 10.) The order also provides that:

The amount of the judgment shall be subject to increase to permit the Plaintiff to recover additional costs, commissions and expenses not included in the judgment figures set forth herein. It may also increase to include supplemental compensation for attorney's services not contemplated by the initial fee awarded. Jurisdiction over the fee award and total debt is reserved to facilitate the assessment and payment of any such costs and/or supplemental compensation. Such additional costs, commissions and expenses may be established by affidavit and shall be adjudicated by the Court without further hearing.

(R. p. 12.)

A foreclosure sale was held on April 1, 2013, and EverBank was the successful bidder. (R. p. 2.) On April 26, 2013, the Scurrys filed a motion to vacate the foreclosure judgment and sale. (R. pp. 30-74.)

The Scurrys argued for vacation of the judgment and sale under subsections (1), (3), (4), and (5) of Rule 60(b), SCRPC. They attached affidavits of the Scurrys noting communications with the process server and personnel from EverBank's servicer that led them to believe they needed to take no action regarding the foreclosure case, attached EverBank's proof of claim (with its attachments, including the note, mortgage, and mortgage assignment), and attached an affidavit of attorney Shawn French, in which he noted his experience in plaintiff's foreclosure work, that "[t]he usual fee charged by an attorney to prosecute a mortgage foreclosure action in South Carolina is between \$800.00 and \$1,000.00" and that "[i]t would be unreasonable to expect a mortgagee to pay more than \$1,000.00 to an attorney to prosecute an uncontested mortgage foreclosure action in this State." (R. pp. 36-74.)

The Scurry's motion and affidavits noted that EverBank's process server told them that the foreclosure pleadings were nothing for them to worry about and, thus, they did not take any action about them. (R. pp. 32-33, 36-37.) It noted that they were being processed by EverBank's servicer for a modification at the time they got the notice of hearing, and based on that and how they interpreted information they got from EverBank's law firm, they believed the hearing would be cancelled. (R. pp. 37-38.) Mrs. Scurry's affidavit attached numerous modification-related communications with Everhome Mortgage (EverBank's servicer), including a letter dated March 11, 2013 – the day the foreclosure judgment was entered – saying that Everhome would

provide the Scurrys with its decision on whether to enter into a loan modification within 30 days. (R. pp. 39-44.) Her affidavit also noted that two days after the foreclosure sale, an Everhome employee told her to fax in additional documentation needed for the modification review as soon as she received it. (R. p. 38.) The written motion noted that “the attached affidavits and other materials show that the Defendants have defenses that are worthy of inquiry. The Defendants accordingly have meritorious defenses.” (R. p. 34.)

The special referee set a hearing on the motion for June 5, 2013. (R. p. 201.) Both EverBank and the Scurrys presented memoranda to the special referee. (R. pp. 173-99.) The Scurrys presented a proposed answer and counterclaim. (R. pp. 157-64.) Counsel for the Scurrys and EverBank argued their positions to the special referee. (R. p. 126 ln. 22 through p. 154 ln. 22.) He took the matter under advisement and initially notified counsel that he had decided to rule for the Scurrys, even attaching to an email to counsel a preliminary draft of an order. (R. pp. 94-97.) He asked counsel for comments and additional authorities. (R. p. 94.) EverBank’s counsel sent the special referee a letter with authorities and, though the special referee never permitted the introduction of new factual material into the record, attempted to supplement the record with an affidavit. (R. pp. 203-09.) The Scurry’s counsel replied, noting, among other things, that the time for creating the record with respect to the motion had already passed. (R. p. 100.)

On September 26, 2013, the special referee filed an order denying the Scurry’s motion. (R. pp. 1-6.) The special referee based his decision on the Rule 60(b)(1) and (3) arguments on what he perceived as a failure to show the process server was an

agent of EverBank and on a failure of the Scurrys to show misrepresentation about the hearing date. (R. pp. 3-4.) He based his Rule 60(b)(4) and (5) rulings on the language of the note at issue and on a perceived lack of prejudice to the Scurrys. (R. p. 5.) He based his ruling as to whether the Scurrys have a meritorious defense on his perception that the Scurrys' argument of a meritorious defense is "based upon the evidence presented in support of the motion. That evidence as presented does not meet the burden of showing that they are entitled to relief." (R. pp. 5-6.)

The Scurrys moved for reconsideration. (R. pp. 75-108.) The special referee denied that motion without a hearing. (R. p. 7.)

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case illustrates many common abuses of the mortgage foreclosure process. At the time this foreclosure action was begun and throughout its entire duration, even after the sale of the subject property, the Scurrys were engaged with EverBank's servicer in negotiations for a loan modification. (R. pp. 36-52.) It is plain from the record that EverBank was engaged in a practice known as "dual tracking," in which a foreclosure action is pursued at the same time as review for a modification is taking place. (R. pp. 36-52, p. 132 ln. 2-10, p. 132 ln. 22 through p. 133 ln. 4, p. 189.) By its very nature, such a practice very often leads foreclosure defendants to believe that they are keeping abreast of what they need to do to oppose foreclosure when, procedurally, they are not. (R. p. 132 ln. 7-10, p. 189.) The Scurrys' perception that their loan default was being taken care of through a modification and that foreclosure would not proceed was a reasonable one,

particularly in light of the process server telling them that the foreclosure pleadings were “nothing to worry about” and that “Obama was coming out with a program to help homeowners” like them. (R. p. 36.) Homeowners in the Scurrys’ position, because of confusion created by the perceived reassurance that the foreclosure plaintiff is going to settle the matter with them through a modification, often miss deadlines in a foreclosure action and fail to realize that the very same plaintiff with whom they believe they are working toward a resolution to allow them to keep their home is proceeding forward with a lawsuit designed to take it away from them. That is what happened here.

Across this state, masters-in-equity and special referees routinely award plaintiffs in residential mortgage foreclosure actions “attorney’s fees” that bear no relation to the amount of attorney’s fees the plaintiff actually incurred in the case and usually exceed that amount by several thousand dollars. (R. p. 133 ln. 12-14.) This is so despite the fact that it is nearly universal that the notes and mortgages involved in those cases, like the ones here, provide for the recovery of attorney’s fees only to the extent that they are incurred costs of collection. (R. p. 114.) This is so despite the fact that foreclosure complaints almost uniformly state that they seek the recovery of attorneys’ fees as costs of collection. That is what happened here.

In fact “testimony” in general at a default foreclosure hearing is often present barely if at all. As here, it is common for plaintiffs’ counsel to provide the court with prepared “testimony” of a hearing at which that lawyer acts as advocate and witness all rolled into one. (R. pp. 109-11.)

It is also routine for masters-in-equity and special referees to permit the post-judgment recovery of extra amounts by foreclosure plaintiffs. Often, as here, this is done with language in a judgment that states the judgment amount can be increased without a hearing. (R. p. 12.) As a practical matter, in the foreclosure world in this state, judgments are final as to defendants, but they are not final as to plaintiffs, who may unilaterally increase them. Due process for foreclosure defendants is usually a gesture at best and a dead letter at worst.

Further, at the time this foreclosure action was commenced – the only point in time at which this matters – the plaintiff, EverBank, did not own the mortgage. (R. pp. 19-29, 116-22, 165-66, 177-78, 194-96.) In a mortgage originated in the MERS system, ownership of the note and ownership of the mortgage – things we usually think of as going hand-in-hand – are vested in different entities from the outset of the loan. Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. v. Neb. Dept. of Banking & Finance, 704 N.W.2d 784, 270 Neb. 529 (2005) (generally describing how the MERS system operates).

MERS is a private corporation that administers the MERS System, a national electronic registry that tracks the transfer of ownership interests and servicing rights in mortgage loans. Through the MERS System, MERS becomes the mortgagee of record for participating members through assignment of the members' interests to MERS. MERS is listed as the grantee in the official records maintained at county register of deeds offices. The lenders retain the promissory notes, as well as the servicing rights to the mortgages. The lenders can then sell these interests to investors without having to record the transaction in the public record. MERS is compensated for its services through fees charged to participating MERS members.

...

Mortgage lenders hire MERS to act as their nominee for mortgages, which allows the lenders to trade the mortgage note and servicing rights on the market without recording subsequent trades with the various register of deeds throughout [the country].

To execute a MERS Mortgage, the borrower conveys the mortgage to MERS, who is acting as a contractual nominee. MERS becomes the recorded [mortgagee], however, the lender retains the note and servicing right. The lender can then sell that note and servicing rights on the market and MERS records each transaction electronically on its files.

Id. at 530, 533.

The mortgage at issue here was a MERS mortgage, in which the mortgagee's rights were vested in MERS, not EverBank, at the time this action was commenced. (R. pp. 19-29, 116-22.) This was so regardless of who owned the *note* at the time the foreclosure action was brought; an entity that had the note and not the mortgage of course could not transfer the mortgage to anyone.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The denial of a Rule 60(b) motion will be reversed where the lower court has abused its discretion in denying the motion. Tri-County Ice and Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co., 303 S.C. 237, 242, 399 S.E.2d 779 (1991). "An abuse of discretion arises where the trial judge was controlled by an error of law or where his order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support." Id.

ARGUMENT

I. **A flawed analysis produced the denial of the Scurrys' motion on its 60(b)(4) ground.**

a. **The usually proper 60(b) analysis.**

In deciding a motion under Rule 60(b), SCRCP, the court hearing the motion is charged with deciding whether the party seeking relief has shown, by the preponderance of the evidence, that the conditions of a subsection of the Rule are met and, ordinarily, that he has a meritorious defense. See Lanier v. Lanier, 364 S.C. 211, 612 S.E.2d 456, 458 (Ct. App. 2005); Bowers v. Bowers, 304 S.C. 65, 67-68, 403 S.E.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1991).

The subsections of Rule 60(b) provide relief for the following:

- (1) **mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect;**
- (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b);
- (3) **fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;**
- (4) **the judgment is void;**
- (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or **it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application.**

Rule 60(b), SCRCP (emphasis added).

South Carolina “favor[s] the disposition of issues on their merits rather than on technicalities[.]” Micronics, 345 S.C. at 511. The availability of a challenge to a default judgment under Rule 60(b), SCRCP, is one of the primary reasons the Rule exists. See Winesett v. Winesett, 287 S.C. 332, 334, 338 S.E.2d 340 (1985) (“default

judgment may not be appealed”; correct practice is to move for relief from judgment); Belue v. Belue, 276 S.C. 120, 121, 276 S.E.2d 295 (1981) (“no appeal lies for a default judgment”; correct practice is to move for relief from judgment); Jean Hoefler Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert A. Muckenfuss, Appellate Practice in South Carolina 99 (2d ed. 2002).

b. The analysis differs where the issue is whether a judgment is void.

An exception to the usual requirement of showing of a meritorious defense exists where relief is sought under Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCP; if the judgment is void, relief must be granted, and there is no need for further analysis. BB&T v. Taylor, 369 S.C. 548, 552 n. 1, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 n. 1 (2006). Judgments rendered without due process are void, and Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCP, provides for relief from such a judgment. Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney, 349 S.C. 179, 183, 561 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 2002).

A judgment rendered against a party for his default for failure to appear “shall not be different in kind from or exceed in amount that prayed for in the demand for judgment.” Rule 54(c), SCRCP. A non-appearing defendant would be prejudiced by his lack of notice if the plaintiff were to be awarded relief other than that sought in the complaint; in this way, Rule 54(c) ensures due process. See id.; Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950); Pinckney v. Atkins, 317 S.C. 340, 343, 454 S.E.2d 339 (Ct. App. 1995); cf. Roche v. Young Brothers, Inc., 318 S.C. 207, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995).

Relief is proper where a default judgment renders an award in excess of the demand in the plaintiff’s complaint. Pinckney, 317 S.C. at 343; River Road Co. v.

Energy Master Products, Inc., 300 S.C. 316, 316-17, 387 S.E.2d 694 (Ct. App. 1989).

A default judgment in excess of the amount sought in the complaint is “clearly unlawful[.]” River Road, 300 S.C. at 317.

- c. **When the correct analysis is applied to the issue concerning the inflated “attorney’s fees” awarded in the judgment, it is plain that the master’s conclusions in this regard are grounded in errors of law.**

The special referee erred in failing to recognize the issue presented by the inflated judgment in this case that awarded EverBank more than it pled it was entitled to: whether relief from the judgment should be granted because the judgment awarded relief outside the scope of EverBank’s pleadings in violation of Rule 54(c), SCRPC, and was, thus, void. (R. pp. 5, 10, 26, 33-34, 56, 86-87, 113-15, p. 135 ln. 16 through p. 136 ln. 5.) Also, he applied extra, improper steps, such as determining whether there was prejudice to the Scurrys, to the analysis of whether to grant relief to the Scurrys from a void judgment. (R. pp. 5, 88); see id. His decision not to grant the Scurrys relief from the judgment on this ground is the product of erroneous analysis and legal conclusions.

The special referee’s reasoning on this issue was as follows:

Attorney’s fees and costs are authorized by the note and mortgage. The defendants argue that the purpose of an action of the nature of the present one is to determine debt not to create debt. That may be true, but the note and mortgage authorize collection of fees and costs in actions to collect money because of default in payment of the initial debt. If such fees and costs are incurred in actions to collect a debt and are authorized by the agreed upon documents creating the debt they are not unauthorized additions to debt. Moreover, in the present case, since a personal deficiency against the defendants is waived, the plaintiff’s remedy was recovery of the real property subject to the mortgage

which has occurred by its successful nominal bid and acknowledgement that it has paid all fees and costs without any recourse against the defendants personally. Consequently, the defendants are not prejudiced thereabout and have no legal or equitable claim justifying the Court to vacate the judgment and sale under Rule 60(b)(4) and (5).

(R. p. 5.)

Prejudice is simply not part of the proper analysis with regard to whether the Scurrys are entitled to relief from a void judgment. If a judgment is void, relief from the judgment *must* be granted, and there is no need for further analysis. BB&T, 369 S.C. at 552 n. 1. As the Supreme Court has noted, “[T]he promptness with which relief is sought, the reasons for the failure to act promptly, the existence of a meritorious defense, and the prejudice to the other parties . . . do not apply to a motion made pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4), SCRPC.” Id.

The purpose of a mortgage foreclosure is to allow the mortgagor an opportunity to exercise his right to redeem the property by paying the debt in full. Bartles v. Livingston, 282 S.C. 448, 455, 319 S.E.2d 707 (Ct. App. 1984). A mortgage foreclosure action is a proceeding to collect a debt, not to create one. See S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-10 (2007); Bartles, 282 S.C. at 455. The foreclosure judgment in this action effectively created debt by awarding EverBank an amount as an ostensible “attorney’s fee” that exceeds the amount the court could lawfully award. (R. pp. 10, 26, 33-34, 56, 86-87, 113-15, p. 133 ln. 12 through p. 136 ln. 9); see American Federal Bank, FSB v. Number One Main Joint Venture, 321 S.C. 169, 175, 467 S.E.2d 439 (1996) (attorney’s fee award greater than incurred fees found to be

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