RECEIVED

JUL 08 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Joseph W. Hudgens, Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2013-002181

EverBank.....Respondent,

v.

Lenora Scurry, Patrick Scurry,
The South Carolina Department of Revenue, Defendants,

Of whom Lenora Scurry and Patrick Scurry are the..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Sean M. Foerster (SC Bar # 77466)
Rogers Townsend & Thomas, PC
220 Executive Center Drive (29210)
Post Office Box 100200
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200
(803)771-7900
sean.foerster@rtt-law.com

Attorneys for Respondent EverBank

July 8, 2014

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

ARGUMENT

The Special Referee did not abuse his discretion in denying the Scurrys relief from the Foreclosure Judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1),(3), and/or (4), or in denying their Motion to Reconsider. His Orders of September 6, 2013, and October 4, 2013, were based on factual findings supported by the evidence presented to him and were not controlled by any errors of law.

A court may relieve a party from a default judgment for the following reasons:

- (1) “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect;
- (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b);
- (3) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;
- (4) the judgment is void;
- (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application.”

Rule 60(b), SCRC. In determining whether to set aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b), a court should consider the following relevant factors: “(1) the promptness with which relief is sought, (2) the reasons for the failure to act promptly, (3) the existence of a meritorious defense, and (4) the prejudice to the other parties.” *McClurg v. Deaton*, 380 S.C. 563, 573, 671 S.E.2d 87, 93 (Ct. App. 2008).

“The standard for granting relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b) is more rigorous than the ‘good cause’ standard established in Rule 55(c).” *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Industries, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 608, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888

(2009). “Rule 60(b) requires a more particularized showing of mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, misrepresentation, or ‘other misconduct of an adverse party.’” *Id.* “The different standards under the two rules underscore the clear intent to make it more difficult for a party to avoid a default once the court has entered a judgment, which carries greater finality...” *Id.* at 608, 681 S.E.2d at 888-89.

“The movant in a Rule 60(b) motion has the burden of presenting evidence proving the facts essential to entitle him to relief ... [s]uch evidence is usually provided through affidavits.” *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 67-68, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991). Statements of counsel and allegations in unverified pleadings are not enough. *Id.*

I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE SCURRYS RELIEF FROM THE FORECLOSURE JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 60(B)(4).

The Special Referee was within his discretion in refusing to vacate the Foreclosure Judgment under Rule 60(b)(4) because he had subject matter and personal jurisdiction over the case and the parties, and because the Scurrys were afforded the full due process to which they were entitled throughout the foreclosure case.

“[T]he court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding [if] ... the judgment is void ...” Rule 60(b)(4), SCRPC. However, “[a] void judgment is one that, from its inception, is a complete nullity and is without legal effect[.]” *Ware*, 404 S.C. at 11, 743 S.E.2d at 822 (internal citation omitted)(emphasis added).

“The definition of void under the rule only encompasses judgments from courts which failed to provide proper due process, or judgments from courts which lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.” *Id.* “A judgment is not rendered void

by irregularities which do not involve jurisdiction.” *Id.* “There is a difference between a want of jurisdiction, in which case the court has no power to adjudicate, and a mistake in the exercise of undoubted jurisdiction, in which case the court’s action is not void, but is subject to direct attack on appeal.” *Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney*, 349 S.C. 179, 184, 561 S.E.2d 659, 662 (Ct. App. 2002). Rule 60(b)(4) “may not be used to attack a judgment on the grounds that the judgment is legally incorrect.” Prof. James F. Flanagan, South Carolina Civil Procedure 512 (3rd ed. 2010).

There is no dispute that the Special Referee had subject matter jurisdiction over the foreclosure action and personal jurisdiction over the Scurrys. The Scurrys do not dispute that they were personally served with the Summons and Complaint. (R. pp. 177-178; R. p. 36, ¶ 3; R. p. 53, ¶ 2.) The Scurrys never challenged the Order of Reference granting jurisdiction to the Special Referee.

The Scurrys were afforded full due process in the foreclosure action. The requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. *McKinney*, 349 S.C. at 183, 561 S.E.2d at 661. The Scurrys do not dispute that they received notice of the final hearing at which the damages were determined. (R. p. 45.) The Scurrys do not dispute that they received written notice of the entry of the Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale. The Scurrys had the opportunity to timely move for reconsideration of the foreclosure judgment under Rule 59(e) or appeal from the Foreclosure Judgment, but failed to avail themselves of these opportunities.

The Scurrys’ only argument as to why the Foreclosure Judgment is void pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4) is that the Special Referee made mistakes of law by 1) awarding too

much in attorney's fees and 2) retaining jurisdiction to award unanticipated post-judgment fees and costs. The Scurrys do not challenge any other portion of the Foreclosure Judgment.

Unfortunately for the Scurrys, the inquiry on appeal is not whether the Foreclosure Judgment was controlled by an error of law, but whether the order denying the Rule 60(b)(4) motion was controlled by an error of law. Even if the Special Referee made a mistake of law in the Foreclosure Judgment itself (which EverBank denies), it would not render the foreclosure judgment void or entitle the Scurrys to relief under Rule 60(b)(4) because 1) the Special had subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction over them, and 2) they were afforded full due process throughout the foreclosure action.

a. The Scurrys were afforded full due process in the Special Referee's determination of the amount of attorneys' fees awarded to EverBank.

The Scurrys argue that the provision of the Foreclosure Judgment awarding attorney's fees amounted to a deprivation of their right to due process, and thus falls within the purview of Rule 60(b)(4), because the fees awarded 1) exceeded the amount prayed for in the Complaint, and 2) exceeded the amount permitted by the Note and Mortgage. This argument fails for several reasons.

First, the amount of attorney's fees awarded in the Foreclosure Judgment was not outside of the scope of the relief requested within EverBank's pleadings. EverBank's Complaint stated that it was seeking "reasonable attorneys' fees" against the Scurrys. (R. pp. 25-26, ¶ 9, 11, Prayer for Relief subsection (a).) Nowhere in the Complaint did EverBank limit this request for attorney's fees to a specific amount. (R. pp. 24-27.)

Second, the Note and Mortgage expressly permitted EverBank to recover “reasonable attorneys’ fees” from the Scurrys in the event of a loan default. (R. p. 63, ¶ 6(C); R. p. 68, ¶ 18.)

Between EverBank’s pleadings and the terms of the Note and Mortgage, the Scurrys had more than sufficient notice that EverBank would be seeking attorney’s fees in whatever amount was deemed “reasonable” by the Special Referee. Therefore, there was no due process violation in determining and awarding the attorney’s fees.

Even if the amount of recoverable attorney’s fees were limited to the fees actually incurred by EverBank (which is denied), the burden was on the Scurrys to put forth evidence to show that the attorney’s fees incurred by EverBank were less than the \$5,200 awarded by the Special Referee. *Bowers*, 304 S.C. at 67-68, 403 S.E.2d at 129 (“The movant in a Rule 60(b) motion has the burden of presenting evidence proving the facts essential to entitle him to relief ...”). The Scurrys failed to satisfy this burden.

At the foreclosure hearing, EverBank supported its request for \$5,200 in attorney’s fees with a sworn affidavit signed by its foreclosure counsel. (R. p. 111.) There was no other evidence before the Special Referee at the foreclosure hearing to refute this amount. Even in default, the Scurrys could have appeared at the hearing to contest the amount of fees sought by EverBank. *See Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 238, 241, 246 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1978). Instead, they ignored the notice of hearing and squandered their opportunity to be heard on the attorney’s fees issue. The Special Referee correctly based his award of attorney’s fees on the only evidence in front of him at the foreclosure hearing.

Therefore, none of the evidence before the Special Referee at the foreclosure hearing proved that the award of attorney's fees exceeded the amount prayed for in the Complaint or the amount permitted by the Note and Mortgage.

Later, through their Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sale, the Scurrys offered a copy of the Proof of Claim filed by Everhome Mortgage in their bankruptcy action to argue that it reflected the total amount of attorney's fees actually incurred by EverBank. (R. pp. 54-70.) However, the Proof of Claim only stated the amount of "pre-petition" attorney's fees incurred by EverBank before November 5, 2012—the date of filing of the Scurrys' bankruptcy petition. *Id.* It would have been an abuse of discretion for the Special Referee to simply assume that this amount also covered post-petition attorney's fees incurred from November 5, 2012, through the foreclosure hearing on March 8, 2013, when the affidavit from EverBank's counsel stated otherwise. Even if this was good evidence of the amount of fees incurred by EverBank, the Scurrys failed to present it at the foreclosure hearing despite being afforded notice and the opportunity to do so.

The Scurrys argue that even if the attorney's fees were actually incurred, the amount awarded is still too high based on local custom. However, the only evidence offered to support this argument was an affidavit from Shawn M. French, Esquire. (R. pp. 71-74.) The Special Referee was correct in giving this affidavit no weight and not even acknowledging it in the order denying the Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sale. Mr. French gave this affidavit in a completely separate and unrelated foreclosure action in a different county concerning a different set of facts. *Id.* The affidavit opined only as to the reasonableness of the amount of attorney's fees that should have been awarded in that other case. *Id.* The affidavit was based on his analysis of the specific affidavit of

attorney's fees submitted by the plaintiff's counsel in that other case. *Id.* ¶¶ 4-5.) The affidavit did not analyze the amount of fees awarded in this case and did not analyze the work done by EverBank's counsel in this case—it did not concern this case at all. *Id.* The affidavit was over three years old when the Scurrys offered it to the Special Referee in this case and it had never been supplemented or updated to discuss whether customary attorney's fees in South Carolina foreclosure actions have changed in the meantime. *Id.*

Further, the French Affidavit only concerned the issue of local customary attorney's fees. Local custom is only one factor that a trial court may consider in awarding attorney's fees. The trial court may consider all of the following:

1. The nature, extent and difficulty of the legal services rendered;
2. The time and labor necessarily devoted to the case;
3. The professional standing of counsel;
4. The contingency of compensation;
5. The fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; and
6. The beneficial results obtained.

Dedes v. Strickland, 307 S.C. 155, 160, 414 S.E.2d 134, 137 (1992); *see also* Rule 1.5(a), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. As such, this affidavit was insufficient to show that the Special Referee abused his discretion in determining the reasonableness of the attorney's fees awarded to EverBank. The Scurrys presented no other evidence to refute that the Special Referee's award of attorney's fees was reasonable under the six *Dedes* factors.

Even if the French Affidavit had any weight with respect to the issue, the Scurrys failed to present it at the foreclosure hearing despite being afforded notice and the opportunity to do so.

For these reasons, the Scurrys were afforded full due process with respect to the Special Referee's determination of the amount of attorneys' fees awarded to EverBank.

b. The Scurry's dispute as to the Special Referee's reserve of the jurisdiction over the award of attorneys' fees is not ripe for review.

For the reasons discussed previously, whether the Special Referee made a mistake of law in the Foreclosure Judgment by reserving jurisdiction to award additional attorney's fees is irrelevant to Court's inquiry into whether he abused his discretion in denying the Scurrys' Rule 60(b)(4) motion. But even if it was relevant, the issue is not justiciable because the Special Referee never exercised this jurisdiction and EverBank never requested additional fees and costs pursuant to that provision of the Foreclosure Judgment.

"A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character." *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 331, 745 S.E.2d 81, 87 (2013).

The subject property was sold at a foreclosure sale on April 1, 2013. On September 19, 2013, the Special Referee entered a Report on Sale and Disbursements confirming the foreclosure sale and reflecting that a deed had been issued to the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development. (R. p. 210.) The judgment has already been carried out and EverBank never requested additional fees and costs pursuant to that provision of the Foreclosure Judgment. We do not know whether the Special Referee would have employed this provision in a manner that violated the Scurrys' right to due process because it never happened. Therefore, the issue is not ripe for review.

c. The Special Referee's analysis of the prejudice to the parties in ruling on the Rule 60(b)(4) motion constitutes harmless error.

The Scurrys also argue that the Special Referee made an error of law with respect to his denial of the Rule 60(b)(4) motion by analyzing the prejudice to the parties.

EverBank concedes that this extra step in the analysis is not required for motions made pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4). However, to the extent that this was an error of law, it does not show that the Special Referee abused his discretion because it was not a controlling error of law. *Ware*, 404 S.C. at 10, 743 S.E.2d at 822 (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the order of the court is *controlled* by an error of law ...”)(emphasis added).

“[N]o error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court ... is ground for ... vacating, modifying or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice.” Rule 61, SCRPC.

Before reaching that extra step in the analysis, the Special Referee had already concluded that the award of attorney’s fees in the Foreclosure Judgment was proper. (R. p. 5.) He was going to deny their Rule 60(b)(4) motion regardless of the additional “prejudice” analysis. The motion could not have been properly granted because 1) the Special had subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction over the Scurrys, and 2) they were afforded full due process throughout the foreclosure action. Therefore, to the extent it was an error for the Special Referee to analyze the prejudice to the parties, this was a harmless error and is not grounds for reversal on appeal.

II. The Special Referee did not abuse his discretion in denying the Scurrys relief from the foreclosure judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1).

The Special Referee was within his discretion in refusing to vacate the Foreclosure Judgment under Rule 60(b)(1), SCRPC, because the Scurrys’ failure to respond to the Complaint or appear at the foreclosure hearing did not result from a good faith mistake.

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